STATE OF MICHIGAN
IN THE SUPREME COURT
Appeal from the Michigan Court of Appeals
Servitto, P.J., and Murray and Borello, J.J.

PEOPLE OF THE STATE OF MICHIGAN, Supreme Court No. 156827

Plaintiff-Appellant,

Court of Appeals No. 331232

v

Jackson Circuit Court
No. 15-4688-FH

TERRENCE MITCHELL BRUCE,

Defendant-Appellee.

PEOPLE OF THE STATE OF MICHIGAN, Supreme Court No. 156828

Plaintiff-Appellant,

Court of Appeals No. 331233

v

Jackson Circuit Court
No. 15-4688-FH

STANLEY LYLE NICHOLSON,

Defendant-Appellee.

**BRIEF ON APPEAL OF APPELLANT
PEOPLE OF THE STATE OF MICHIGAN**

ORAL ARGUMENT REQUESTED

Bill Schuette
Attorney General

Aaron D. Lindstrom (P72916)
Solicitor General

STATEMENT OF JURISDICTION

This Court has jurisdiction pursuant to MCL 600.215(3) and MCR 7.303(B)(1). On November 30, 2017, the People of the State of Michigan filed an application for leave to appeal the Court of Appeals' decision in this matter. In a March 21, 2018 Order, this Court granted leave to appeal, "limited to the issue whether the defendant federal border patrol agents were 'public officers' for purposes of the common-law crime of misconduct in office when they assisted – as members of a law enforcement task force that included Michigan State Police and Michigan motor carrier officers – in the execution of a search warrant."

STATEMENT OF QUESTIONS PRESENTED

1. A “public officer” for purposes of Michigan’s common-law crime prohibiting misconduct in office includes an individual whose position, under state law, is created by the Legislature or an inferior body to carry out sovereign duties. When the defendants converted an individual’s property for their own personal use during the execution of a search warrant, they were federal border patrol agents acting pursuant to a Michigan statute enabling them to “enforce state law to the same extent as a state or local officer.” Are the defendants public officers?

Appellant’s answer: Yes.

Appellees’ answer: No.

Trial court’s answer: Yes.

Court of Appeals’ answer: No.

Court of Appeals’ dissent: Yes.

STATUTES INVOLVED

MCL 750.505 provides:

Any person who shall commit any indictable offense at the common law, for the punishment of which no provision is expressly made by any statute of this state, shall be guilty of a felony, punishable by imprisonment in the state prison not more than 5 years or by a fine of not more than \$10,000.00, or both in the discretion of the court.

MCL 764.15d provides, in pertinent part:

(1) A federal law enforcement officer may enforce state law to the same extent as a state or local officer only if all of the following conditions are met:

(a) The officer is authorized under federal law to arrest a person, with or without a warrant, for a violation of a federal statute.

(b) The officer is authorized by federal law to carry a firearm in the performance of his or her duties.

(c) One or more of the following apply:

* * *

(iii) The officer is participating in a joint investigation conducted by a federal agency and a state or local law enforcement agency.

(iv) The officer is acting pursuant to the request of a state or local law enforcement officer or agency.

* * *

(2) Except as otherwise provided in subsection (3), a federal law enforcement officer who meets the requirements of subsection (1) has the privileges and immunities of a peace officer of this state.

INTRODUCTION

When an attorney is admitted to practice in Michigan *pro hac vice*, she surely knows that she is bound by Michigan's rules governing attorney conduct. It is plain common sense. Federal law enforcement officers authorized to act as Michigan law enforcement officers should be treated the same way—subject to Michigan law to the same extent as their state and local counterparts. This, too, is common sense. And it is supported by statute. The Michigan Legislature gives certain individuals the same substantive authority that it gives to the State Police: the authority to “enforce state law to the same extent as a state or local officer,” and to enjoy “the privileges and immunities of a peace officer of this state.” MCL 764.15d.

The defendants, Bruce and Nicholson, were federal border patrol agents permanently serving in a Michigan State Police task force comprised of state and federal law enforcement officers; because of their position in the task force, the defendants received authority under § 15d to enforce our State's laws. They abused that authority by converting private property for their own use while executing a search warrant.

The Department of Attorney General charged the defendants with misconduct-in-office and was therefore required to show that they are “public officers.” Under long-settled Michigan common law, a public officer is an individual whose position is created by the Legislature and is endowed with the authority to carry out sovereign duties. The individual's title is unimportant. Rather, the law considers the substance of the Legislature's grant of authority. Michigan courts,

this one included, have consistently held law enforcement officers are public officers. Bruce and Nicholson ought to be treated no differently.

In addition to the strong statutory guidance, the proliferation of multijurisdictional task forces counsels in favor of treating each member enforcing Michigan law the same and establishing that the State will not countenance misconduct by the officers it entrusts to enforce its laws. This Court should reverse the Michigan Court of Appeals' judgment to the contrary.

STATEMENT OF FACTS AND PROCEEDINGS

Defendants Bruce and Nicholson are border patrol agents embedded in a joint task force with state law enforcement officers.

The Hometown Security Team is a joint task force under the authority of the Michigan State Police (MSP), staffed by state and federal law enforcement agents. (125a–126a.) Two federal border patrol agents, defendants Bruce and Nicholson, were “permanently embedded” with the task force; in other words, “[t]hey didn’t have other regular duty assignments. That was their job assignment.” (127a; 178a, 179a–180a.) Another law enforcement team, the Jackson Narcotics Enforcement Team, also included state and local officers and worked in conjunction with the task force.

The task force, Bruce and Nicholson included, and the narcotics team combined to execute a search warrant at a suspected drug property near Ann Arbor. (127a.) Michael Teachout, an MSP Trooper, created a tabulation during the search, which accounts for every single item “of evidentiary value” seized by the police

during execution of a search warrant. (88a, 94a.) Seized items were loaded into the truck and trailer of the Jackson Narcotics Enforcement Team. (90a.) According to Teachout, other officers were “[a]bsolutely not” permitted to “make a decision to take property to the truck without making sure it’s [in the] tabulation.” (90a.)

Both Teachout and Assistant MSP Post Commander David Cook testified that taking any property from a residence for personal use, even “a quarter,” is not permitted because it is against the law as well as the official orders of the MSP. (95a–96a, 151a, 154a.) No one had authority to take private property from a person’s residence that was not being seized for forfeiture or evidentiary value. (159a.)

Defendants take items for their own personal use.

At trial, Nicholson testified that, while he was working with the Hometown Security Team, he took and followed orders of MSP. (259a–260a.) He stated that he considered himself a “peace officer” and explained his experience conducting search warrants in Detroit and as a police officer for the State of Maine. (273a, 275a–276a, 280a–281a.) He admitted that he knew that when executing a search warrant he should not “take anything from [a] house even though it’s trash.” (282a.)

Nonetheless, Nicholson, who said his role was to “perform external security” during execution of the search warrant (262a), admitted that he took an old thermometer from the property as a souvenir. (264a–270a.) Nicholson confirmed that, after attempting to fix it up, he simply threw the thermometer in the garbage

at home. (270a.) He also testified that, when an officer came to his house days later to investigate the taking, “[a]t that point I realized that it was not a piece of trash [but] that it was somebody’s property that had been removed from the home and I was responsible for it.” (272a.) At trial, Nicholson’s excuse was that an MSP trooper gave him the thermometer and told him that he should take it and fix it up, knowing that Nicholson was a “tinkerer of sorts.” (264a.) This contradicted Nicholson’s prior statement to Charles Christensen, the investigator in charge of this case. Nicholson told Christensen that “no officer ever told him he could take the property” and that no officer made any comments about taking “whatever you want illegally.” (217a.)

About a week after execution of the search warrant, the task force’s leader, MSP Sergeant Steven Temelko, received information that Nicholson’s co-defendant Bruce had also taken property from one of the locations during execution of the search warrant. (188a–189a.) Sergeant Temelko asked Bruce about it, and Bruce “advised he did take a chair.” (189a.) Bruce said that he did so out of “stupidity.” (190a.)

The trial court denies the defendants’ motion to dismiss the misconduct-in-office charges.

Before trial, Bruce and Nicholson filed a joint motion to dismiss the misconduct-in-office charges because they were not “public officers” subject to that crime. The trial court considered whether a federal border patrol agent acting in concert with state officers is a public officer. (28a.) The court recognized that,

pursuant to MCL 764.15d, federal officers can enforce state law to the same extent as state or local officers. (28a–29a.) The court found that the defendants were participating in a joint investigation with state and local law enforcement and that the defendants “were acting under the color of the State Police powers that were there present as they were a joint venture at that point in time.” (29a.) Because the defendants were essentially acting as part of MSP, they were public officers, and the Court denied the motion. (29a.)

For the same reasons, the Court subsequently denied the defendants’ motions for directed verdicts that raised the same issue. (255a–256a.)

The jury convicts.

The jury found Nicholson and Bruce guilty of misconduct-in-office; they were both acquitted of a separate charge of larceny in a building. (287a–288a.) The court sentenced each defendant to 12 months’ probation. (287a–288a.)

A split Michigan Court of Appeals panel determines that defendants are not public officers.

The Michigan Court of Appeals majority concluded that Bruce and Nicholson were not public officers and were therefore exempt from the crime of misconduct-in-office. (292a.) The panel quoted this Court’s opinion in *People v Coutu*, 459 Mich 348, 354 (1999), which set forth a number of elements to be examined to determine whether an individual is a public officer, the first of which states that the individual’s position “must be created by the Constitution or by the legislature or created by a municipality or other body through authority conferred by the

legislature.” (292a.) Focusing on the fact that the “the position of federal border patrol agent was not created by the Michigan Constitution or by the Legislature” or an inferior state authority, the majority held that the People had not established that the defendants satisfied the *Coutu* framework. (292a.). The panel majority limited its discussion of § 15d to a single sentence: “While MCL 764.15d allows federal law enforcement officers to enforce state law ‘to the same extent as a state or local officer’ if certain conditions are met, the fact that defendants were temporarily enforcing Michigan law bears no relation to how their positions were created.” (292a.)

Because it held that the People had not established the first element required to prove that the defendants were public officers, the court vacated the misconduct-in-office convictions and declined to consider the remaining *Coutu* factors or the defendant’s other claims. (292a.)

The Court of Appeals dissent would have concluded, under *Coutu*, that the defendant are public officers.

Judge Borello, in dissent, would have affirmed the defendants’ convictions. He would have concluded that at the time of the charged offense, defendants were in positions that were created by the state legislature through § 15d. The statute “confer[ed] state authority upon” the defendants, who were operating as part of the MSP-led task force. (292a.) The position that defendants held was as task force members; § 15d created defendants’ positions. (292a.) Judge Borello relied on the

legislative determination that federal officers can act as state law enforcement officers under certain circumstances:

[T]he Legislature crafted a law that permits federal law enforcement officers to act under the color of state law to the same extent as state or local officers under certain circumstances such as part of a joint federal-state investigation. See MCL 764.15d(1)(c)(iii)-(iv). Hence at the time of the offenses, defendants were operating not as border patrol agents but as part of a joint task force. The only way defendants could participate in the joint task force was by state statute, MCL 764.15d. The majority fails to address the impact that MCL 764.15d has on whether the federal officers, at the time the offense was committed, were acting in law enforcement positions—i.e. [Hometown Security Team] members—that were created by the Legislature pursuant to the statutory authorization under MCL 764.15d. [296a.]

Disagreeing with the majority on the first element, the dissent examined the rest of the *Coutu* elements, finding that each was satisfied, and would have held that Bruce and Nicholson were public officers subject to the crime of misconduct in office. (296a–297a.)

STANDARD OF REVIEW

Whether a defendant is a public officer is a question of law reviewed de novo. *People v Coutu*, 459 Mich 348, 353 (1999).

On appeal, Bruce and Nicholson challenged the trial court’s decision not to grant their motion for a directed verdict and pretrial motion to dismiss, respectively. A trial court’s decision on a motion to dismiss is reviewed for an abuse of discretion. *People v Bylsma*, 493 Mich 17, 26 (2012). An abuse of discretion occurs when the circuit court’s decision falls outside the range of principled outcomes. *People v Jones*, 497 Mich 155, 161 (2014).

ARGUMENT

- I. Bruce and Nicholson are public officers, just like any other state or local law enforcement officer, because they were granted specific statutory authority to act and be treated as state or local law enforcement participating in a joint state-federal investigative team.**

The law ought not make a distinction between two individuals who are delegated precisely the same authority, perform the same duties, and are clothed with the same privileges. This case of first impression presents the question whether this State's common-law crime of misconduct in office encompasses federal officers acting under the authorization of state law, even though they lack a formal title. Because this Court has eschewed the sacrifice of substance for form when determining who is a public officer, holding that this crime does encompass the defendants would merely be reiterating that long-established principle.

Given the interconnectedness of law enforcement on the local, state, and federal levels—especially facing the challenges of terrorism, immigration enforcement, and the interstate drug and firearm trade—law enforcement officers are, more than ever, compiled in joint task forces. Law enforcement officers serving on those task forces and enforcing Michigan law should be subject to the same standard of conduct, no matter who signs their paychecks.

- A. Law enforcement officials have consistently been considered public officers subject to the crime of misconduct in office.**

The Legislature created a position of public trust for federal agents when it permitted them to enforce state law to the same extent as state and local officers. This plain delegation of sovereign authority, MCL 764.15d, establishes a public

office. That the Legislature did not prescribe a specific name for that office is of no moment.

The statute setting the penalty for misconduct in office leaves its definition to the common law. MCL 750.505 (“Any person who shall commit any indictable offense at the common law, for the punishment of which no provision is expressly made by any statute of this state, shall be guilty of a felony . . .”). Under the common law, misconduct in office is defined as “corrupt behavior by an officer in the exercise of the duties of his office or while acting under color of his office.” *People v Perkins*, 468 Mich 448, 456 (2003), quoting *People v Coutu*, 459 Mich 348, 354 (1999). The crime of misconduct in office applies only to those stationed to act in the public trust. The universe of individuals subject to this common-law crime is limited to “public officers,” also called “public officials.” *Coutu*, 459 Mich at 358 n 12 (there is “no distinction between the terms ‘public officer’ and ‘public official’”).

This Court has long recognized a broad definition of “public office,” stating that the “correct rule” focuses on the *duties delegated* and the *functions performed* by the individual:

A public office is the *right, authority and duty* created and conferred by law, by which for a given period, either fixed by law or enduring at the pleasure of the creating power, an individual is *invested with some portion of the sovereign functions of the government*, to be exercised by him for the benefit of the public. The individual so invested is a public officer. [*People v Freedland*, 308 Mich 449, 455 (1944) (emphasis added), quoting Meechem on Public Offices and Officers §§ 1 and 2.]

Accordingly, “public office” is defined *not* as a formal position with a title, but as “the right, authority and duty” conferred by law. A public officer is not a position category determined by human resources; it is a delegation of authority and duty by

the Legislature. 63 Am Jur 2d Public Officers and Employees § 42 (“The creation of an office need not necessarily be declared in express words. Any language which shows legislative intent to create the office is sufficient.”); see also, e.g., *Ryan v Riley*, 223 P 1027 (Cal App 1924) (“Upon first impression it might appear questionable as to whether any such office was in fact created, but upon further consideration and investigation it seems clear that the language used conveys the intent as well as embodies the intent of the legislature to call into existence such an office notwithstanding the fact that the functions of that office are to be gathered only from the general terms of the section, to wit, to enforce the provisions of the Motor Vehicle Act . . .”).

Precedent has defined “public officer” to describe a wide range of individuals, in law enforcement and otherwise. See, e.g., *Coutu*, 459 Mich at 357 (law enforcement personnel, including deputy sheriffs, are public officials in this context); *People v Milton*, 257 Mich App 467, 468 (2003) (city police officer); *Council of Organizations & Others for Ed About Parochiaid, Inc v Governor*, 455 Mich 557, 585 (1997) (“[P]ublic school academy board members are public officials and are subject to all applicable law pertaining to public officials.”); *Dosker v Andrus*, 342 Mich 548, 552 (1955) (deputy register of deeds); *Graves v City of Lansing*, 149 Mich App 359, 364 (1986) (mayor and city treasurer).

The inquiry whether a law enforcement official in particular is a public officer depends on the “context” in which the question is asked, though in cases “addressing the relationship between law enforcement personnel *and the discharge*

of their duties, courts have *consistently* concluded they are public officials.” *Coutu*, 459 Mich at 357–358 (emphasis added; collecting cases).

In recent years, this Court centered on elements to be considered when evaluating whether a person occupies a public office:

- (1) It must be created by the Constitution or by the legislature or created by a municipality or other body through authority conferred by the legislature;
- (2) it must possess a delegation of a portion of the sovereign power of government, to be exercised for the benefit of the public;
- (3) the powers conferred, and the duties to be discharged, must be defined, directly or impliedly, by the legislature or through legislative authority;
- (4) the duties must be performed independently and without control of a superior power other than the law, unless they be those of an inferior or subordinate office, created or authorized by the legislature, and by it placed under the general control of a superior officer or body;
- (5) it must have some permanency and continuity, and not be only temporary or occasional. [*Coutu*, 459 Mich at 354–355 (citation omitted).]

A sixth element, which is “also of assistance in determining whether a position is a public office,” is the existence of an oath or bond requirement. *Id.* at 355.

B. By operation of statute, federal agents acting as state law enforcement officers are “public officers.”

Bruce and Nicholson were not acting as federal border patrol agents when they were executing a search warrant under Michigan law; they were acting, pursuant to statute, as state law enforcement officers.

The Supreme Court has said “the creation of offices . . . is a legislative function.” *Cochnower v United States*, 248 US 405, 407, *mod* 249 US 588 (1919). As

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