STATE OF MICHIGAN
In the SUPREME COURT

Appeal from the Michigan Court of Appeals
Servitto, P.J, Murry, and Borello J.J.

PEOPLE OF THE STATE OF MICHIGAN
Plaintiff-Appellant

Supreme Court No. 156827

Court of Appeals No. 331232

v

Circuit Court No. 15-4688-FH

TERRENCE MITCHELL BRUCE,
Defendant-Appellee

PEOPLE OF THE STATE OF MICHIGAN
Plaintiff-Appellant

Supreme Court No. 156828

Court of Appeals No. 331233

v

Circuit Court No. 15-4688-FH

STANLEY LYLE NICHOLSON,
Defendant-Appellee.

BRIEF ON APPEAL FOR
DEFENDANTS-APPELLEES TERRENCE BRUCE and
STANLEY NICHOLSON

Oral Argument Requested

ROSEMARY GORDON PÁNUCO (P33275)
Law Office of Rosemary Gordon Pánuco

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

ARGUMENT

The first element of misconduct in office is that the defendant must be a “public officer.” Border Patrol agents are not “public officers” because their position is created by Congress who defines and limits their power and authority. And, Border Patrol agents are not police officers under either federal or Michigan law. The court of appeals correctly held that Border Patrol agents were not “public officers” and that the misconduct in office charge should have been dismissed.

This Court granted leave to consider the question of whether federal border patrol agents were “public officers” for purposes of the common-law crime of misconduct in office when they assisted – as members of a law enforcement task force that included Michigan State Police and Michigan motor carrier officers – in the execution of a search warrant. [302a]. The answer to that question is no. The position of U.S. Border Patrol agent does not satisfy the criteria for a Michigan “public officer” under the test articulated in *People v Freedland*, supra. Since Border Patrol officers are much different from deputy sheriffs, *Coutu I* does not apply to make them “public officers.” Border Patrol agents do not satisfy any definition of a Michigan police officer. And while a Border Patrol agent is a federal officer, they are not considered law enforcement officers because their mission and duties are limited by federal statute. Border Patrol agents are simply not Michigan “public officers.”

Misconduct in Office

The elements of the Michigan common-law offense of misconduct in office are: 1) The person must be a public officer; 2) The conduct must be in the exercise

of the duties of the office or done under the color of the office; 3) The acts were malfeasance or misfeasance; and 4) The acts must be corrupt behavior. *People v Carlin (On Remand)*, 239 Mich.App. 49, 64; 607 NW2d 733 (1999). The first element of this crime is what is at issue here.

The *Freedland* test for who is a Public Officer

In *Freedland* this Court was confronted with the question of whether an account examiner for the Michigan State Sales Tax division was a “public officer”⁴ and to decide that question, it adopted a test developed in *State ex rel. Barney v Hawkins*, 79 Mont. 506; 257 P. 411, 418 (1927). To be a “public officer” the **person’s position** must satisfy **all** of the following elements:

- 1) It must be created by the Constitution or by the legislature or created by a municipality or other body through authority conferred by the legislature;
- 2) It must possess a delegation of a portion of the sovereign power of government, to be exercised for the benefit of the public;
- 3) The powers conferred, and the duties to be discharged, must be defined, directly or impliedly, by the legislature or through legislative authority;
- 4) The duties must be performed independently and without control of a superior power other than the law, unless they be those of an inferior or

⁴ The Court determined he was not a public officer, but rather a public employee.

subordinate office, created or authorized by the legislature, and by it placed under the general control of a superior officer or body; and 5) It must have some permanency and continuity, and not be only temporary or occasional. *Freedland*, supra at 457-458.

The court can also consider whether the position requires an oath or a bond. *People ex rel. Throop v Langdon*, 40 Mich. 673 (1879).

Since *Freedland* was decided, this test has been used whenever courts are called upon to decide whether a person is a “public officer” or a “public official.” See e.g. *Dosker v Andrus*, 342 Mich. 548, 551; 70 NW2d 765 (1955) (deputy register of deeds a public official for purposes of being exempted from mandatory retirement); *Meiland v Cody*, 359 Mich. 78, 86-87; 101 NW2d 336 (1960) (court reporter not a public officer for the purposes of whether a mandamus action was proper); *Banfield v Wood*, 104 Mich.App. 279, 282; 304 NW2d 551 (1981) (prison camp supervisor not a state official for Court of Claims jurisdiction); *People v Clark*, 134 Mich.App. 324, 326-328; 350 NW2d 878 (1984) (water commissioner for City of Ecorse a public officer for conviction of accepting a bribe). In *Coutu I*, this Court applied the *Freedland* test to hold that a deputy sheriff was a public officer for the purposes of the common-law offense of misconduct in office. Given the history and utility of the *Freedland* test, it is appropriate to use it here to determine if a Border Patrol agent is a Michigan “public officer” who could then be charged with the common law crime of misconduct in office.

Under the *Freedland* test a Border Patrol agent is not a “public officer”

(1)

The *Freedland* test’s first element is whether the person’s position was created by the Constitution or by the legislature or created by a municipality or other body through authority conferred by the legislature. *Freedland*, supra at 457. While the test articulated by the Montana Supreme Court in 1927, did not specify the state constitution or state legislature, the test it developed was based upon state law and state legislative powers. See *Hawkins*, supra at 413-418.⁵ The question in *Hawkins* was one of Montana state law regarding the interpretation of a Montana state crime. Here the question is one of Michigan law regarding the interpretation of an element of a Michigan common law crime -- misconduct in office. It is only logical that when a Michigan offense requires the defendant to be a “public officer” it means that he must be a “public officer” as defined by Michigan law.

The court of appeals reasoned that “the” Constitution and “the” legislature in the *Freedland* test meant the Michigan Constitution and the Michigan legislature based on the general interpretation of definite articles and nouns as they appear in statutes citing *Robinson v City of Detroit*, 462 Mich. 439, 462; 613 NW2d 307 (2000). [292a]. The court of appeals also pointed out that Michigan case law refers to this state’s lawmaking branch as the Legislature, while referring to the nation’s

⁵ Citing law from Rhode Island, Mississippi, Missouri, South Carolina, Nevada, North Carolina, Utah, Mississippi, California, Pennsylvania, Massachusetts, Georgia, Ohio, New York, Michigan, Oklahoma, Texas, Kentucky, Georgia, Iowa, Maine, Connecticut, Illinois, New Jersey, Alabama, and Maryland.

lawmaking branch as Congress citing as examples *Taxpayers of Mich. Against Casinos v State*, 471 Mich. 306, 332; 685 NW2d 221 (2004); *Moorman v Moorman*, 340 Mich. 636, 643; 66 NW2d 248 (1954) and *Mich. Dep't of Civil Rights ex rel Jones v Mich. Dept of Civil Serv.*, 101 Mich.App. 295, 307; 301 NW2d 12 (1980). [292a]. The terms “legislature” and “Congress” are not synonymous. [292a].

Moreover, the idea that the terms describing the bodies that must create the position in the first part of the *Freedland* test means the Michigan Constitution and the Michigan legislature is supported by MCL 15.181(e)⁶ defining what a “public officer” is. That statute specifically refers to the Michigan Constitution and the laws of “this state” when defining the term “public officer.” The court of appeals analysis finding that the test refers to the Michigan Constitution and the Michigan Legislature makes sense based on the *Freedland* decision itself as well as on the subsequent cases applying the test.

The position of Border Patrol agent was not created by the Michigan Constitution, the Michigan legislature, or any Michigan municipality or other body authorized to do so by the Michigan Legislature. On May 28, 1924 the United

⁶ (e) “Public officer” means a person who is elected or appointed to any of the following:

- (i) An office established by the state constitution of 1963.
- (ii) A public office of a city, village, township, or county in this state.
- (iii) A department, board, agency, institution, commission, authority, division, council, college, university, school district, intermediate school district, special district, or other public entity of this state or a city, village, township, or county in this state. See also MCL § 750.368 (d).

States Congress established the Border Patrol as part of the Immigration Bureau in the Department of Labor through the Labor Appropriation Act of 1924. [124b]. In 1933, President Franklin D. Roosevelt combined the Bureau of Immigration and the Bureau of Naturalization into the Immigration and Naturalization Service (INS). [125b]. After the 911 attacks, the Department of Homeland Security came into being through the Homeland Security Act of 2002 and the Border Patrol was eventually moved to the newly created Customs and Border Protection Department. [127b]; 6 U.S.C. § 211; 6 U.S.C. § 251; and 6 U.S.C. § 252. There is no question that the position of Border Patrol agent was created by Congress, not the Michigan Constitution or the Michigan legislation. Border Patrol agents are not “public officers” under the first element of the *Freedland* test.

(2)

The *Freedland* test’s second element is whether the person’s position “possess[es] a delegation of a portion of the sovereign power of government, to be exercised for the benefit of the public.” *Freedland*, supra at 457-458. The argument is the same that “the sovereign power of government” means Michigan’s sovereign power, not sovereign power generally. Since 1924 the Border Patrol has exercised a portion of the sovereign power of the United States government to protect our nation’s borders by detecting and preventing the entry of illegal aliens into the United States, as well as preventing the illegal trafficking of people and contraband. [123b-127b]. There is no Michigan statute specifically authorizing the Border Patrol to exercise the sovereign power of the State of Michigan. Nor does

the State of Michigan have the authority to legislate on matters of immigration or border security. “The Federal Government has broad constitutional powers in determining what aliens shall be admitted to the United States, the period they may remain, regulation of their conduct before naturalization, and the terms and conditions of their naturalization. Under the Constitution the states are granted no such powers; they can neither add to nor take from the conditions lawfully imposed by Congress upon admission, naturalization and residence of aliens in the United States or the several states.” *Takahashi v. Fish & Game Comm'n*, 334 U.S. 410, 419, 68 S.Ct. 1138, 1142, 92 L.Ed. 1478 (1948) (citation omitted). A Border Patrol agent does not exercise any portion of the sovereign power of the State of Michigan and does not satisfy the second element for being a Michigan “public officer.”

(3)

The *Freedland* test’s third element is that for the person’s position the “powers conferred, and the duties to be discharged, must be defined, directly or impliedly, by the legislature or through legislative authority.” *Freedland*, supra at 458. Again, in harmony with the rest of the test “the legislature” means powers and duties conferred by the Michigan legislature or through their authority. e.g. delegation to municipalities. Congress created the United States Border Patrol and defined the duties of its agents in 8 U.S.C. § 1357 as having the power to interrogate any alien or person believed to be an alien; arrest any alien who is entering or attempting to enter the United States in violation of any immigration

laws; board and search any vessel, aircraft, conveyance, or vehicle within a reasonable distance from the border to prevent the entry of illegal aliens; to arrest anyone for felonies cognizable under the any law of the United States regulating aliens; and to arrest a person for federal offenses committed in the officer's presence. [117b – 118b]. If a federal felony is not committed in the agent's presence, a Border Patrol agent must be authorized under regulations prescribed by the Attorney General, which include certifications, to make an arrest. 8 U.S.C. 1357(5)(B). [118b]. As a federal officer, a Border Patrol agent has limited arrest power, especially when viewed in contrast to a DEA agent's arrest powers. Compare 8 U.S.C. § 1357 [117b – 120b] with 21 U.S.C. § 878. Not only are a Border Patrol agent's arrest powers limited with regard to federal offenses that are not immigration related, there is nothing in 8 U.S.C. § 1357 to suggest that a Border Patrol agent has the power or authority to enforce any state law. Border Patrol agents have neither the power nor the duty to enforce Michigan law and do not satisfy the third part of the test for being a Michigan "public officer."

(4)

The *Freedland* test's fourth element is that the duties of the position "must be performed independently and without control of a superior power other than the law, unless they be those of an inferior or subordinate office, created or authorized by the legislature, and by it placed under the general control of a superior officer or body. In line with the rest of the test and that it refers to "the" legislature, it is logical that a subordinate office must be authorized by the Michigan legislature.

Here that is not the case. The Border Patrol is a sub-section of the Customs and Border Protection Department, which itself is a sub-department of the Department of Homeland Security. [127b]. An agent in the Border Patrol answers to his superiors in the Border Patrol, who answer to the bosses in the Customs and Border Protection Department, who ultimately answer to the Secretary of the Department of Homeland Security. Nowhere in this chain of command is there any subordinate office created or authorized by the Michigan legislature. A case on point is *Coutu I*, where the subordinate office of “deputy sheriff” was specifically created by the Michigan legislature in MCL §51.70. That is not true here because the position of Border Patrol agent is not independent and was not created as a subordinate office by the Michigan legislature, thus it fails the fourth element of the *Freedland* test for “public officer.”

(5)

The fifth *Freedland* element is that the position must have some permanency and continuity and not be temporary or occasional. *Freedland*, supra at 458. While an agent’s position with the Border Patrol is permanent in nature, these agents were only temporarily assigned to the Hometown Security Team (HST). [258a; 3b].⁷ The agents were assigned to work with HST to help with illegal alien issues and bring back intelligence to the Border Patrol. [259a; 10b]. Since Bruce and Nicholson’s assignment to work with the HST was temporary in nature, it is not a

⁷ While Lt. Furlong described them as “permanently embedded”, he clarified that he meant that they were not assigned any other duties beyond HST. [178a].

permanent Michigan position that falls within the permanency element of the *Freedland* test.

The court of appeals correctly found that a Border Patrol agent did not meet the first criteria of the *Freedland* test. The test adopted in *Freedland* specifically stated that “all five elements are indispensable to any position of public employment, in order to make it a public office..” *Freedland*, supra at 457. Failing to meet the first element is enough to find that the position of Border Patrol agent is not a Michigan “public office.” The fact that the position of Border Patrol agent fails all of the other elements under the *Freedland* test is even stronger evidence that Border Patrol agents Bruce and Nicholson cannot be consider “public officers” for the charge of misconduct in office.

A Border Patrol Agent is not a Police Officer

At trial the State’s own witnesses testified that U.S. Border Patrol agents did not have police officer status in Michigan [192a; 11b, 15b, 17b, 75b]; that they were not deputized in Michigan by anyone [99a, 161a; 75b]; and that none of them were members of any Michigan police organization [134a]. Yet, the State tries to characterize the Border Patrol agents as police officers because Michigan law holds that police officers are “public officers” for the common-law crime of misconduct in office. Border Patrol agents are not police officers under federal or Michigan law.

The federal courts do not consider Border Patrol agents to be police officers. Border Patrol agents are not a general law enforcement officers because their

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